1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner .is Defendant Lourdes Health Network 

("Lourdes"). 

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the July 12, 2016 unpublished 

decision of Division Three of the Court of Appeals, in which it 

reversed summary judgment in favor of Lourdes. A copy of the 

ruling is attached. 

This case has broad policy implications and involves 

significant issues of law, meriting review. 

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Is the Court of Appeals ruling, finding an issue of 

fact as to whether Lourdes was grossly negligent, contrary to 

Washington law? 

B. As a matter of first impression, is gross negligence 

unforeseeable as a matter of law? 

C. Did the decision of the Court of Appeals improperly 

fail to address whether Lourdes even owed a duty of care? 

- 1 -
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D. Should this case be consolidated with Volk v. 

Demeerleer, 184 Wn. App. 389, 337 P.3d 372 (201 4) review 

granted, 183 Wn. 2d 1007,352 P.3d 188 (2015), which this Court 

is currently reviewing, since the duty questions are the same? 

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Introduction 

PAGE 08/29 

The Summary Judgment Motion in this case was heard by 

veteran Benton County Superior Court Judge Robert Swisher. 

Judge Swisher had 16 years of experience. He obviously had 

much more experience dealing with mental health patients, 

voluntary commitment issues, and revocation ofLRA issues than 

the Judges on Division HI of the Washington Court of Appeals. 

Based upon his experience he ruled as a matter of law that the 

conduct of the PACT team was not grossly negligent. 

The sole issue in this case is whether Lourdes's PACT 

team was grossly negligent in dealing with Kathleen Laws of the 

.Benton/Franklin County Crisis Response Unit ("CRU") on 

January 25, 201 2. It is conceded by Plaintiff that Lourdes did 

- 2-
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not have the authority to seek revocation of Mr. WiiJiams' LRA. 

Only the CRU had such authority. On that date, Lourdes 

contacted Kathleen Laws and she did an evaluation. It is logicaiJy 

inconsistent for Division III to ru]e and Plaintiff to argue that 

Lourdes was grossly negligent on that date. Plaintiff's own 

expert submitted testimony that the CRU was provided sufficient 

infonnation and should have sought revocation ofMr. Wil.liams' 

LRA as of that date. Based upon this testimony of Plaintiff's 

own expert as a matter of law Lourdes' conduct was not 

substantially and appreciably greater than ordinary negligence 

since Plaintiff has admitted that Lourdes' interaction with the 

CRU was reasonable. 

B. Summary of Procedural Facts 

On January 27,2012, a psychiatric patient Adam Williams 

murdered his grandmother. At that time, he was under the care 

- 3 -
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of the CRU and the Lourdes Counseling Center PACT team. 1 

There is no evidence Mr. Williams ever expressed any violent 

tendencies or made any threats against his grandmother or 

against anyone else. 

Sherrie Lennox, the Personal Representative of the 

grandmother's estate, sued Lourdes and the CRU, alleging they 

were grossly negligent in their care of Mr. Williams. The trial 

court summarily dismissed the claims against Lourdes and the 

CRU on March 13, 2015. The Court of Appeals affirmed as to 

the CRU, but reversed as to Lourdes. 

C. Summary of Facts Relating to the Care Provided 
to Mr. Williams 

Mr. Williams was released from Eastern State Hospital in 

201 1 after a maximum five-year period of involuntary 

commitment for chronic paranoid schizophrenia, maJor 

1 PACT stands for "Program of Assertive Community Treatment." PACT teams 
are relatively new to Washington; Lourdes' PACT was only adopted in approximately 
2006. A PACT is an alternate to institutionalization for the mentally ill. It is a "person
centered recovery-oriented mental health service delivery model that has received 
substantial empirical support for facilitating community living, psychosocial rehabilitation, 
and recovery for persons who have the most ~evere mental illnesses .... " CP 227. The 
Lourdes program was one of the highest rated in the State. CP 928. 

-4-
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depression with suicide ideations, and recurrent polysubstance 

abuse. There was reaJly no facility that could take him, but 

Lourdes offered to accept him into its PACT in March, 2011. He 

was released by the State to Lourdes under a Least Restrictive 

Alternative ("LRA"), which, as an alternative to involuntary 

commitment, allows the mentally ill to be released into outpatient 

care in the hope they can be reintroduced into society. 

Mr. Williams was also released under the general 

supervision of the CRU, which is ultimately responsible for 

ensuring that the mentally ill comply with the LRA. Legally, the 

CRU had the sole ability to assess Mr. Williams and revoke his 

LRA if it felt he was noncompliant. 

Despite the difficult nature of the job, the PACT team 

provided consistent good care to Mr. Williams from .March 17, 

2011 to January 26, 2012, and they met with and spoke to him 

hundreds of times. Mr. Williams initially appeared to be making 

progress, but had a downturn at the end of July, 20 11 during 

which he began using drugs and was hospitalized. The CRU 

- 5-
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evaluated him at the hospital but decided not to revoke the LRA 

and detain him. CP 367·371. 

He seemed to improve again, but in late December, 20 ll 

or early January, 2012, the PACT team became concerned with 

Mr. Williams' conduct. CP 419,431,434,439,442. He was more 

disheveled. CP 410, 442. However, at no time did he express any 

violent or homicidal intent or tendencies towards himself, or 

anyone else. CP 419, 431, 434, 439, 442. The care provided by 

the PACT team increased when it appeared that Mr. Williams 

was again going through one of his down phases. CP 658-887.2 

However, he did not improve. The team became aware that 

Mr. Williams had violated the tenns of his LRA by taking illegal 

drugs and by not taking medications as prescribed, and so on or 

about January 16, 2012, the PACT team addressed the idea that 

Mr. Williams' LRA should be revoked. CP 450. The PACT team 

< The C.ourt of Appeals 11eglected some critical evidence. It focused on the email 
from a disgruntled employee, Teresa Chandler. that the PACT needed to take action with 
regard ro Mr. Williams, (see page 15 of the opinion) but neglected the facr that the PACT 
team responded immediately that it was moving forward with a plan of action. CP 450, 
452. 

-6-
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immediately acted on that concern and contacted the CRU to 

request that jt evaluate Mr. Williams to revoke the LRA. 

The CRU did not perfonn the evaluation until January 25, 

2012. Again, the CRU alone had the power to revoke the LRA 

and detain Mr. Williams. The CRU's designated mental health 

provider, Kathleen Laws, examined Mr. Williams but decided 

not to revoke his LRA or detain him. During the evaluation there 

was no indication that Mr. Williams was in imminent danger to 

himself or to others. CP 651-653. He expressed no threats to 

others. CP 653. He speciti.calJy denied any homicidal ideations. 

CP 653. There is no evidence he was targeting any person for 

violence. 

On the following day, January 26, 2012, Mr. Williams 

voluntarily came to the PACT office so that he could pick up his 

psychiatric medication. CP 656. He was acting odd, so one of the 

PACT members called the CRU to report the new information 

and indicate that Mr. Wi11iams exhibited "bizarre" behavior. CP 

656. The CRU again decided not to revoke the LRA at that time. 

- 7 -
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Two days later, he murdered his grandmother despite 

never indicating any specific plans of violence or having any 

homicidal ideations. He was later found guilty by reason of 

insanity, CP 498, and was readmitted to Eastern State Hospital. 

CP 403. 

D. Summary Judgment and Appeal 

Lourdes moved to dismiss the Complaint on the grounds 

that Plaintiff failed to establish gross negligence under the 

immunity statute, RCW 71.05.120. CP 47-150, 128-149, RP 1-

51. [t also argued it had no duty to the grandmother, and that the 

CRU's actions were an unforeseen superseding cause because it 

had the opportunity-and sole authority-to detain Mr. Will.iams 

on January 26,2012. CP 137-140, 146-148. Lourdes pointed out 

that gross negligence is unforeseeable as a matter of law. CP 946-

947. 

The trial court granted the summary judgment motions on 

March 13, 2013, finding that Plaintiff did not establish gross 

negligence. RP 50. 

- 8-
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Plaintiff appealed. On July 12, 2016 the Court of Appeals 

affirmed summary dismissal of the CRU, but reversed summary 

dismissal of Lourdes. 

5. ARGUMENT 

Court: 

A. Standard of Review 

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 
(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with a published decision of the Court of 
Appeals; or 
(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 
United States is involved; or 
(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial 
public interest that should be determined by the 
Supreme Court. 3 

RAP l3.4(b). 

J Effective September 1, 2016, subpart (I) read~: "If tne deci!lion of the Court of 
Appeals is in conflict with ano[her decision of the Court of Appeals." 

. 9 -
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The Court should accept review because this case involves 

issues of substantial public i.nterest that should be determined by 

this Court, as well as significant questions of law. RAP 

13 .4(b )(3 ), ( 4 ). The issue of whether gross negligence is 

foreseeable is an issue of first impression that merits close 

revjew. In addition, review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2). 

B. The Court of Appeals Erred in Finding 
Questions of Fact As To Any Gross .Negligence 
by Lourdes 

There is no dispute that gross negligence is a significantly 

higher standard than ordinary negligence. As the Court of 

Appeals noted, it means the failure to e:x.ercise even slight care. 

Nist v. Tudor, 67 Wn.2d 322,331 (1965). "Gross negligence, like 

ordinary negligence, must arise from foreseeability and the 

hazards out of which the injury arises." Bader v. State, 43 Wn. 

App. 223, 228, 716 P.2d 925 (1986). 

Perhaps because this standard is subjective by nature, 

courts are not clear how to apply it. However, numerous courts 

have addressed it, and rejected the argument that a defendant's 

- 10-
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conduct constituted gross negligence. See e.g., Boyce v. West, 

71 Wn. App. 657, 862 P.2d 592 (1993); Johnson v. Spokane to 

Sandpoint, LLC, 176 Wn. App. 453, 309 P.3d 528 (2013); 

O'Connell v. Scot Paper Co., 77 Wn.2d 186, 460 P.2d 282 

(1969); Kelly v. State, 104 Wn. App. 328, 17 P.3d 1.189 (2000); 

Whiteall v. King County, 140 Wn. App. 761, 167 P.3d 1184 

(2007). 

The Court of Appeals disregarded the cases Lourdes cited 

and relied on Bader v. State and Petersen v. State, 100 Wn.2d 

421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983). Neither of those cases is analogous to 

the facts of this case, and it was error to apply them. 

Bader bears some superficial resemblance to this case, but 

the dispositive facts are very different. ln Bader, a psychiatric 

patient with a history of violent behavior shot and killed his 

neighbor. Prior to that, he had expressed violent thoughts and 

tendencies. Bader, 43 Wn. App. at 225. He had specifically 

expressed threats against the victim's life. ld. As the Court of 

Appeals noted: 

- ] 1 -
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The center's records show that on July 2 Mr. 
Roseberry's sister informed the center he was not 
taking his medication, was incoherent, and was 
becoming more paranoid, i.e .. talking of seeing the 
devil in people and how he must kiJl the devil; his 
family members felt threatened by his behavior. 
Their records also show he missed several 
appointments. On September 27 Mr. Roseberry did 
show up for his appointment without evidencing 
any impairment. 

Mr. Roseberry lived across the street from Hazel 
Massey. Mrs. Massey made several complaints to 
the Wenatchee Police Department about Mr. 
Roseberry's violent behavior towards her, including 
threats on her life. On October l, 1979, Mr. 
Roseberry purchased a rifle, then shot and ki1Jed 
Mrs. Massey. 

I d. at 225 (emphasis added). 

Based on these circumstances, the Court of Appeals found 

issues of fact as to whether the Center acted with gross 

negligence. 

The facts of this case are very different. There is no 

evidence Mr. Williams expressed any violent tendencies at all. 

Un.like the patient in Bader, he did not threaten the life of his 

grandmother and he did not talk about needing to kill. In other 

- 12-
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words, there was no reason for Lourdes to suspect that he may be 

violent, or that any violence would be directed to his 

grandmother. His grandmother was not a foreseeable victim in 

any sense. 

Likewise, Petersen is not analogous. In that case, which 

Division Three of the Court of Appeals has recognized is an 

extreme case, see Volk v. Demeerleer, 184 Wn. App. 389, 337 

P.3d 372 (2014) review granted, 183 Wn. 2d 1007,352 P.3d 188 

(20 15), the treating physician knew the patient was potentially 

dangerous. The patient had a history of extreme violent behavior, 

and had actually cut off his left testicle. Petersen, 100 Wn.2d at 

423. He was known to have delusional and hallucinogenic 

tendencies. ld. He had in fact been caught driving his car 

recklessly just six days before he killed the victim by recklessly 

running a red light. ld. 

Again, unlike Petersen, in this case Mr. Williams was not 

seen as a danger to others o.r himself. He repeatedly denied 

homicidal or suicidal ideations in. his evaluations. He never made 

- 13-
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threats to any person, including his grandmother. 4 There is no 

evidence he was potentially dangerous. 

Thus, the circumstances in Bader and Petersen were not 

present here. There was no need to be hyper vigilant to warn 

against any possible violence. The record shows that Lourdes 

provided consistent good care. The PACT team was in frequent 

contact with Mr. Williams and developed a care plan. The 

ultimate outcome was unfortunate but unforeseen and 

unpredictable, and in no sense can any reasonable person 

conclude that Lourdes failed to provide even slight care. 

C. The Sole Relevant Issue ls Whether Lourdes 
Was Grossly Negligent on January 25, 2012, and 
the Record Does Not Support That Conclusion 

FundamentaiJy, the sole pertinent issue is whether Lourdes 

was grossly negligent on January 25, 2012. Whether there was 

or was not grossly negligent care prior to that time is irrelevant 

and could not proximately cause the aJleged harm. This is 

4 It should also be noted that Petersen did not contain a detailed discussion of 
gross negligence and h(lw that standard is applied. 

- 14 ~ 
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because the PACT team requested that the CRU perfonn an 

evaluation on January 25, 2012 to revoke his LRA. At that time, 

the grandmother was alive; Mr. Williams had not assaulted her.5 

The records are clear that Lourdes met any duty it owed at 

that time. Ms. Laws of the CRU did in fact do an evaluation on 

January 25, 2012. She met with Mr. Williams and assessed him. 

CP 651-653. According to Ms. Laws' own records she had all 

the information she needed to do an assessment. CP 96-97, C.P 

651-653. Plaintiff's own expert testified that Ms. Laws had 

sufficient information that she should have revoked the LRA at 

that time. CP 545-47. 

Given that, the Court of Appeals' ruling that Lourdes 

could be grossly negligent is logically inconsistent and was error. 

Plaintiffs own expert testified that Ms. Laws had sufficient 

infonnation. The Court of Appeals' suggestions that Lourdes did 

$ l..ourdes contends it cannot be argued that the "but for'' consequences of 
Lourdes' alleged failure to detain Mr. Williams prior to January 26, 2012 caused injury. 
Mr. Williams injured no one between January 6 and January 26. The Court of Appeals' 
decision runs counter to established appellate authority in that subject. See ~unds v. 
Ncllcor P1,1ritan Bennett, 147 Wn. App. I 55, 194 P.3d 274 (2008), rev. den., 165 Wn.2d 
I 047 (2009). 

- 15-
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not provide the CRU with adequate infonnation is incorrect (see 

page 15 of the decision) and is contrary to the record.6 

D. Whether the CRU's Gross Negligence Was 
Foreseeable Is An Issue of First Impression and 
A Significant Question of Law That Merits 
Review 

Lourdes argued below that the CRU's gross negli~ence 

and failure to detain Mr. Williams when it had the chance-and 

sole ability-to do so was unforeseeable as a matter oflaw. There 

is no dispositive Washington law on this issue, and the Court of 

Appeals acknowledged (on page 35 of its ruling) that this is an 

issue of first impression in Washington. 

Because there is no dispositive Washington law, Lourdes 

cited cases from several other jurisdictions specifically holding 

that gross negligence is unforeseeable as a matter of law.7 This 

appears to be the majority rule. See e.g. Love v. City of Detroit, 

27 Mich. App. 563, 573, 716 N.W.2d 604 (2006); People v. 

6 We also note that the Coun of Appeals did not indicate what other information 
Lourdes was supposed to provide beyond what was provided. 

7 Plaintiff failed to provide any citation at the trial eoUI1 level or to the Court of 
Appeals that gross negligence is foreseeable. 

- 16-
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Gulliford, 86 111. App. 3d 237, 24\, 407 N.E.2d 1094 (1980); 

People v. SaavedraNRodriguez, 971 P.2d 223, 226 (Colorado 

1988), as modified (Feb. 11, 1999); People v. Schafer, 4 73 Mich. 

418, 437, 703 N.W.2d 774 (2005), holding modified by People 

v. Derror, 47 Mich. 316, 750 N.W.2d 822 (2006). 

The Court of Appeals ignored these decisions and relied 

on Cam-gbell v. TTE Imperial Corp., 107 Wn.2d 807,733 P.2 969 

( 1987), which generally discusses the factors to establish a 

superseding cause, but does not state that gross negligence is 

foreseeable. Unlike Lourdes, the Court of Appeals cited to and 

rel.ied upon no cases specifically discussing the foreseeability of 

gross negligence. 

Whether gross negligence is foreseeable or unforeseeable 

is a significant question of law that applies beyond the limited 

contours of this case. lt is a general principle of law that impacts 

litigants at large. Because this is an issue of first impression, this 

- 17-
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Court should grant review to clarify the law and bring it into 

conformity with the majority view.8 

E. The Court of Appeals Failed to Address the 
Argument That Lourdes Did Not Owe A Duty. 
This Case Should Be Consolidated with Yolk v. 
Demeerleer, Where This Court Is Addressing 
The Duty Question 

One of Lourdes' arguments below was that it did not owe 

a duty of care to warn Mr. Williams' grandmother. If there was 

no duty owed, there was no breach and no liability. Lourdes' 

argument is based on Volk v. Dem.eerleer, 184 Wn. App. 389, 

337 P.3d 37.2 (2014) review granted, 183 Wn. 2d 1007,352 P.3d 

188 (20 15), which this Court is currently reviewing. The Court 

of Appeals completely failed to address this argument, and that 

failure alone justifies review. 

Whi.le Volk involved different facts, the duty issue is the 

same as in this case, and thus Yolk's ultimate outcome is 

relevant. The issue is whether mental health providers such as 

• lt should bt: noted that Plaintiff agrees this is a significant area of the law and a 
matter of public interest. as indicated by the Motion to Publish Plaintiff recently tiled. 
Appendix at 3·4. 

- 18-
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Lourdes are subject to a broad, expansive duty to protect third 

parties, or a more limited duty to protect identifi.able persons 

from actual threats of violence, as intended by the Legislature 

when it enacted RCW 71.05.120. 

In Volk, Division Three (we believe wrongly) held that 

there i.s a greater duty owed to third parties outside the 

involuntary commitment context. Volk, 184 Wn. App. at 426. In 

that instance, the duty extends to any foreseeable victim. 

Division Three applied the rule in Petersen v. State, 100 Wn.2d 

421, 671 P.2d 230 (1 983), ld. at 422-26, instead of the later 

enacted RCW 71.05.120, which limits the duty to third parties to 

actual threats made against an identifiable person and abrogates 

Petersen relative to the scope of duty owed to non-client/third 

parties. Division Three made this ruling, arguing that RCW 

71.05.120 only applies to involuntary commitment proceeding, 

despite recognizing that there is "no reason to differentiate 

between treating a mental health patient in the context of 

- 19 ~ 
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involuntary commitment and treating a patient outside that 

context.'' I d. at 426. 

This Court is currently reviewing Volk to determine which 

standard applies to mental health professionals: the older, 

harsher, and more extreme standard in Petersen, or the more 

recent and reasonable standard in RCW 71.05.120. 

The same duty question is present in this case, and in the

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