RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 07, 2016, 2:54 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93729-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHERRIE LENNOX, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF VIOLA WILLIAMS,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

LOURDES HEALTH NETWORK, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Defendant/Petitioner.

Court of Appeals No. 33201-2-III

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT SHERRIE LENNOX

REBECCA J. ROE, WSBA #7560 ANNE M. KYSAR, WSBA #28351 CARLA TACHAU LAWRENCE, WSBA #14120 (Of Counsel)

SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

500 Central Building 810 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8000

A. Summary of Answer

Petitioner Lourdes Health Networks asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the superior court's dismissal of Lourdes on summary judgment. Petition, Attachment 1 (*Lennox v. Lourdes Health Network, et al.*, No. 33201-2, slip opinion, July 12, 2016).²

Lourdes claims four bases for review. First, it argues the Order granting Lourdes summary judgment should have been affirmed on what Lourdes assumes to be undisputed evidence. But Lourdes' recitation of the evidence demonstrates there are vigorously disputed issues of fact whether Lourdes was "grossly negligent" in failing to ask former co-defendant Benton-Franklin Counties' Crisis Response Unit ("CRU") to revoke Adam Williams' less restrictive alternative ("LRA") release order at any time before he murdered his grandmother, Viola Williams.

¹ The Court of Appeals denied Lennox's motion to publish on Sept. 6, 2016.

² Denial of a motion for summary judgment is generally not appealable, RAP 2.2(a), and discretionary review of such orders is not ordinarily granted. Sea-Pac Co., Inc. v. United Food and Commercial Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 801-02, 699 P.2d 217 (1985). This general rule promotes appeal on the merits, based on the sufficiency of the evidence at trial. Summary judgment should not be used to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury if they have evidence for trial, as Respondent/Plaintiff Sherrie Lennox does, See also Section B.

Lourdes contends the "experienced" trial court was in a superior position to evaluate the factual dispute. ³ However, the trial court mistakenly believed that the mere number of contacts between the Lourdes' PACT team⁴ and Williams, as opposed to the substance of those contacts, demonstrated more than "slight care." The Court of Appeals, on the other hand, determined a reasonable juror could find the fact that Lourdes had numerous contacts without asking the CRU to revoke the LRA plan demonstrated greater than ordinary negligence, because there were so many occasions where the substance of the contact cried out for Lourdes to request revocation.

Next, Lourdes erroneously tries to limit evidence of gross negligence to a single interaction on January 25, 2012. But the evidence shows that Lourdes' PACT team violated the standard of care by failing to seek revocation on multiple occasions from March 2011 on, not just

Without citation to evidence or authority, Lourdes claims the trial court "obviously had much more experience dealing with mental health patients, voluntary commitment issues, and revocation of LRA issues than the Judges on Division III", and that the trial judge granted summary judgment dismissal "based upon his experience." Petition, at 2. Even if Lourdes could show this were true, it cites no authority for the proposition that a reviewing court should compare one judge's asserted experience in an area to another's and grant deference to the one with more experience. The standard of review on summary judgment is de novo, and does not depend on a judge's experience. The reviewing court engages "in the same inquiry as the trial court, and will affirm summary judgment if there is no genuine issue of any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c)." Wilson Court Ltd. P'ship v. Tony Maroni's, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 692, 698, 952 P.2d 590 (1998); Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) (review is de novo).

⁴ PACT is the acronym for "program of assertive community treatment." Slip op., at 5; CP 227.

January 25, 2012. Lourdes' request to revoke the LRA could have changed this tragic outcome.⁵

Third, Lourdes maintains the foreseeability of gross negligence is a significant "issue of first impression" warranting Supreme Court review. However, in affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals concluded that as a matter of law, the CRU was not grossly negligent; therefore, any claimed issue whether gross negligence can be an unforeseeable superseding cause is moot.

Finally, Lourdes maintains that this case should be consolidated with *Volk v. Demeerleer*, 184 Wn. App. 389, 337 P.3d 372 (2014), *review granted*, 183 Wn.2d 1007 (2015). This proposition fails, as *Volk* was argued a year ago, in November 2015. And, contrary to Lourdes' assertion, the Court of Appeals addressed the issue of duty.

B. Statement of the Case

As the Court of Appeals noted, "Lourdes was obligated to report violations by Adam Williams, of his less restrictive alternative release order, to the Crisis Response Unit." Slip op., at 6; RCW 71.05.340 (2009). "From the first day of his release from Eastern State Hospital on

⁵ "The record includes facts to support the conclusion that, if Lourdes requested revocation, the Crisis Response Unit would have revoked the less restrictive alternative release. Lourdes never made that request. A reasonable jury could find that Lourdes' conduct was a proximate cause." Slip op., at 36; CP 349, 365. See also Lennox's Reply Br., at 5.

March 1, 2011," Williams violated conditions of the LRA order by missing meetings with Lourdes or untimely cancelling appointments. Slip op., at 7.

Lourdes PACT team members did not report these violations of the court order to the Crisis Response Unit and did not insist that Williams attend meetings. Rather, Lourdes allowed Williams to set the terms of his meetings and allowed him to cancel meetings for no reason.

Slip op., at 8. "Despite the terms of Adam Williams' less restrictive alternative release order, Lourdes Health Network viewed Williams' participation in its outpatient treatment program as voluntary." Slip op., at 7.

Williams' parents took him to the Emergency Room at Kadlec Medical Center on July 31, 2011, after finding him homeless, relapsed with methamphetamines, and off his medications. Slip op., at 10. Lourdes PACT team member Suzanne Kieffer visited Williams at the hospital and wrote a report after observing him:

[H]e [Williams] said "I was hiding from PACT because I do NOT want to go back to ESH [Eastern State Hospital] and I have not taken my meds for about 9 days or so and I do not give a flying fuck I have been using crystal meth just flying high, but I am done with that I dumped about 3 ounces down the drain" ... [T]hey [Kadlec Medical Center] could not medically release him so he was asked to stay. He agreed but when the charge nurse came in to give him an IV and give him something to make him sleep he told her "Fuck you bitch you are not going to stick no needles in me fuck all you guys I am out of here[.] ... I left the hospital,

as there was nothing that I could do. Do [sic] to his violent behavior I would not even attempt to detain him, transport him, nor be in the same room alone with him.

Slip op., at 10-11 (quoting CP 315).

On November 23, 2011, at a medication management appointment, Lourdes' Nurse Michelle Aronow "chose to take Williams off of Clozaril, a powerful anti-psychotic," replacing it with another medication. Slip op., at 12. *See also* Slip op., at 22-23 (¶10.b—Dr. Layton's testimony). Later, after Williams killed Viola Williams (his grandmother), "[d]uring his psychological evaluation following the murder charge, the doctor wrote: 'The medications he was taking at the time of the murder represented a total failure in treatment.'" Slip op., at 30 (quoting CP 408).

On January 16, 2012, Lourdes' Nurse Teresa Chandler pleaded with the Lourdes PACT team to have Williams revoked from his community placement. Noting that Williams was "obviously not taking" his medications, she wrote:

How long are we going to let this go before we revoke him? I thought early detection and intervention was our goal. He's getting so much worse. . . . I don't want to be any where in a room alone with him. Help. . . Teresa

Slip op., at 15 (quoting CP 450) (bold emphasis added).

On January 25, 2012, CRU's Kathleen Laws went to Lourdes' office to meet with another patient. On her way there, a Lourdes

employee asked Laws to remind Williams of his conditions for the LRA placement. Slip op., at 18. Though Laws' notes state that Lourdes' Nurse Aronow "requested an eval[]" of Williams, CP 97, Laws "testified that her entire meeting with Williams lasted only five minutes and the remaining 'client time' [15-25 minutes] referred to travel and note taking...." Slip op., at 18-19; CP 354. Thus, Laws testified she was not at Lourdes to evaluate Williams, and she did not perform an actual evaluation. Slip op., at 18-19, 22 (¶9).

On January 27, 2012, when Williams visited his grandmother Viola Williams' house, he "believed himself to be Lucifer Grand Am Dynasty and that God directed him to kill his grandmother." Slip op., at 20. He brutally murdered his grandmother, and was later found not guilty of first degree murder by reason of insanity. Slip op., at 20.

Reviewing the record de novo, the Court of Appeals concluded:

Under the facts favorable to Sherrie Lennox, Lourdes Health Network saw Williams deteriorating. Lourdes knew Williams thought he conversed with God, was sexually preoccupied, believed his grandmother engaged in a conspiracy against him, and used methamphetamines. Lourdes understood that Williams had a history of violence. Lourdes knew that he groped one of its employees, and hit his father while under their supervision. Lourdes observed that Williams skipped appointments and rejected his medications. In short, Lourdes Health Network knew that Adam Williams violated the conditions of his less restrictive alternative release and that he was dangerous, but never requested Crisis Response Unit to revoke the less restrictive

alternative status. Although Lourdes contends its employee's testimony only meant to state Williams' use of its services was voluntary, the trier of fact could conclude that Lourdes considered Williams' participation voluntary rather than compelled by court order that should be revoked if Williams violated conditions of the order.

Slip op., at 30 (emphasis added).

There is no obvious error – let alone a "significant" legal issue – and no matter of substantial public interest that justifies interlocutory review by the highest court in the State. RAP 13.4. There are only disputed issues of fact for trial.

C. None Of The Bases Asserted By Lourdes Warrants Acceptance Of Review

1. Discretionary Review From The Court's Denial Of Summary Judgment On Gross Negligence Is Not Justified By Any Grounds Under RAP 13.4

A court ordinarily will not accept review, as Lourdes requests, from a denial of summary judgment:

An order denying summary judgment is essentially interlocutory. It does not end proceedings, but rather permits them to proceed. The denial of a summary judgment motion is not a final order that can be appealed. ... Only final judgments are appealable. See RAP 2.2(a).

In re Estate of Jones, 170 Wn. App. 594, 605, 287 P.3d 610 (2012); Sea-Pac Co., Inc. v. United Food and Commercial Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 801-02, 699 P.2d 217 (1985) ("Denial of a motion for summary judgment is generally not an appealable order, RAP 2.2(a), and

discretionary review of such orders is not ordinarily granted."); DGHI, Enterprises v. Pac. Cities, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 933, 949, 977 P.2d 1231 (1999) ("the claim still remains pending trial. The issue can be reviewed after trial in an appeal from final judgment") (quoting Rodin v. O'Beirn, 3 Wn. App. 327, 332, 474 P.2d 903 (1970)). The only exception is where "the superior court has committed an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless." Sea-Pac, at 802 (quoting RAP 2.3(b)(1)).

This rule promotes an appeal on the merits, based on the sufficiency of the evidence at trial. See Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 123 Wn.2d 15, 35 n.9, 864 P.2d 921 (1993). "Summary judgment exists to examine the sufficiency of legal claims and narrow issues, not as an unfair substitute for trial." Babcock v. State, 116 Wn.2d 596, 599, 809 P.2d 143 (1991). The purpose of summary judgment "is not to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury if they really have evidence which they will offer on a trial, it is to carefully test this out, in advance of trial by inquiring and determining whether such evidence exist[s]." Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 369, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) (emphasis removed) (quoting Preston v. Duncan, 55 Wn.2d 678, 683, 349 P.2d 605 (1960)). Lennox "really [has] evidence" for trial, and has passed the test to defeat summary judgment.

Stated another way, in the highly unlikely event that this Court were to accept review, it could reverse only if it could conclude there is no genuine issue of material fact. Waggoner v. Ace Hardware Corp., 134 Wn.2d 748, 751, 953 P.2d 99 (1998); City of Seattle v. State, Dep't of Labor & Indus., 136 Wn.2d 693, 696-97, 965 P.2d 619 (1998). The record shows that conclusion is not possible. As the Court of Appeals noted, "[w]here different competing inferences may be drawn from the evidence, the issue must be resolved by the trier of fact." Slip op., at 30 (citing Johnson v. Spokane to Sandpoint, LLC, 176 Wn. App. 453, 457-58, 309 P.3d 528 (2013)).6

Lourdes presents no obvious error which would render a trial useless. Rather, there are numerous questions of fact as to whether Lourdes' gross negligence proximately caused the death of Viola Williams:

 Lourdes was obligated to report Williams' violations of his LRA release order to the CRU, but failed to inform them of Williams' repeated violations. Slip op., at 6-8.

⁶ In their motions for summary judgment, Lourdes and Benton-Franklin Counties claimed they were not at fault but each blamed the other for failing to revoke Williams' LRA release order. The Court of Appeals reversed the grant of summary judgment dismissal to Lourdes, while affirming the grant of summary judgment to Benton-Franklin Counties. Where, as here, two summary judgment motions take such opposite positions, it may be appropriate to reverse an order granting summary judgment to one of them. *Ki Sin Kim v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 153 Wn. App. 339, 353, 223 P.3d 1180 (2010) (citing, e.g., Weden v. San Juan County, 135 Wn.2d 678, 710, 958 P.2d 273 (1998)).

- Lourdes' Nurse Aronow took Williams off a powerful antipsychotic, resulting in "a total failure in treatment." Slip op., at 12, 22-23, 30.
- Lourdes' Nurse Chandler urgently reminded the Lourdes PACT team that Williams was "getting so much worse", asking "How long are we going to let this go before we revoke him?" Slip op., at 15; CP 450.
- CRU's Kathleen Laws testified that despite a request to evaluate
 Williams, she did not do so on January 25, 2012, but rather was
 at Lourdes' office to meet with another patient, and saw
 Williams for only five minutes. Slip op., at 17-18, 22.
- By the time Williams murdered Viola Williams, he believed he
 was "Lucifer Grand Am Dynasty and that God directed him to kill
 his grandmother", leading to the finding that he was not guilty by
 reason of insanity. Slip op., at 20.
- "Under the facts favorable to Sherrie Lennox, ... Lourdes Health
 Network knew that Adam Williams violated the conditions of his
 less restrictive alternative release and that he was dangerous, but

⁷ Lourdes' position that Williams' sexual harassment and attempted sexual assault of Lourdes' PACT team members did not constitute dangerous conduct is startling and baseless.

never requested the CRU to revoke the less restrictive alternative status." Slip op., at 30.

Rather than explain how grounds for review exist (because they do not), Lourdes disputes the merits of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that there are questions of fact as to whether Lourdes was grossly negligent. But Lourdes did not meet its burden to demonstrate there is no genuine issue of material fact for trial. Slip op., at 28-29. That is why the Court of Appeals answered yes to the question "whether questions of fact exist as to any gross negligence by Lourdes," and reversed and remanded Lennox's claims for the jury to resolve. Slip op., at 25. Lourdes will have the opportunity to present its defense to the jury at trial.

2. Liability Is Not Limited To January 25, 2012

Lourdes rehashes its argument that its liability should be limited to its conduct on one date, January 25, 2012. But the Court of Appeals rejected Lourdes' argument that the only relevant care occurred after

For example, Lourdes attempts to distinguish the disputed facts of this case from those in *Bader v. State*, 43 Wn. App. 223, 716 P.2d 925 (1986) and *Petersen v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), arguing, e.g., "there was no reason for Lourdes to suspect that [Adam Williams] may be violent, or that any violence would be directed to his grandmother", Petition, at 13; and "[t]he record shows that Lourdes provided consistent good care." Petition, at 14. As the Court of Appeals concluded, reasonable persons could disagree.

⁹ Lourdes accuses the Court of Appeals of "disregard[ing]" the cases it cited. The Court of Appeals did consider Lourdes' cases. E.g., Slip op., at 27-28.

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